1956

Harold E. Best and Earl Craig v. Big Jim Mining Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from a judgment of the District Court in and for San Juan County, adjudging that defendant Big Jim Mining Company, a Nevada corporation, had abandoned the assignment of a lease and enterprise with regard to a piece of mining property and had committed a forfeiture of its rights thereunder. The judgment went on to declare the lease assignment abandoned, forfeited, and cancelled, to quiet title therein, and to require reassignment of the lease. Damages were not awarded. (See Judgment)

The complaint of plaintiff alleges in Paragraph 2 that in June, 1953 plaintiff was granted a uranium and vanadium mineral lease by the Utah State Land Board covering all of Section 16, Township 36 South, Range 25 East, Salt Lake Meridian. The lease was admitted in defendant's answer, as was its assignment to Herman Stern as attorney for the defendant. A copy of the assignment, itself constituting the agreement between the parties, is attached to the complaint as Exhibit B, and its execution is admitted.

It is alleged in Paragraph 4, and admitted, that "on or about the 12th day of November, 1953, the Big Jim Mining Company accepted said assignment . . ."

Succeeding paragraphs, placed in issue by defendant in its answer, assert that defendant had failed to fulfill its obligations under its assignment and had abandoned the property, and failed to pay the sum of \$5,500 to plaintiff.

The agreement between the parties, Exhibit B, around the interpretation and performance of which issues arose, provides among other things for a survey of the property by defendant. It also provides for the payment by defendant to plaintiff of the sum of \$5,500 if a mine on adjoining pro-

perty intersects the leased property or if an Atomic Energy Commission drill report is satisfactory.

Further provisions are made for the payment of a minimum of \$250.00 a year, commencing with the calendar year 1959, by the defendant to plaintiff against gross mill receipts derived from the property.

In its answer, defendant denied any breach and affirmatively raised the issue in Paragraph 8 that plaintiff was not the real party^{IN} interest.

A pretrial hearing was held, but no written pretrial order was ever entered. At the trial, defendant was not permitted to examine concerning the issue of real party in interest. However, upon motion of counsel for plaintiff Best, one Earl Craig was joined as plaintiff upon the court's order, (R. 45) without sworn testimony and over the objection of defendant's counsel.

Judgment was for plaintiffs in the respects above described; motion for new trial was made and denied, and this appeal followed.

Many of the points raised in this appeal deal with the failure of the evidence to support the judgment of the trial court, particularly with regard to the issues of abandonment and forfeiture. Because of this, it has been necessary to discuss

this evidence at some length within each of these sections. To avoid duplication and since such discussion is believed to constitute compliance with the Appendix of Forms of the Rules of Civil Procedure, Form 32, permitting subdivision of the fact statement, the facts will not again be set forth here at length.

POINTS

POINT I. THE FINDING AND CONCLUSION OF LAW OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT DEFENDANT ABANDONED THE LEASE IS TOTALLY UNSUPPORTED BY, AND CONTRARY TO THE PREPONDERANCE OF, THE EVIDENCE, AND IS CONTRARY TO THE PRINCIPLES OF JUSTICE AND APPLICABLE PRECEDENTS.

POINT II. THE FINDING AND CONCLUSION OF LAW OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT DEFENDANT COMMITTED A FORFEITURE OF ITS RIGHTS UNDER THE ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT IS TOTALLY UNSUPPORTED BY, AND CONTRARY TO, THE EVIDENCE, AND IS CONTRARY TO PRINCIPLES OF JUSTICE AND APPLICABLE PRECEDENTS.

POINT III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT EXPLICITLY FIND OR CONCLUDE THAT THE CONTRACT OF DEFENDANT AND PLAINTIFF BEST WAS UNENFORCEABLE BY REASON OF LACK OF MUTUALITY; BUT IF SUCH FINDING OR CONCLUSION BE DEEMED IMPLICIT, IT IS TOTALLY CONTRARY TO ALL EVIDENCE AND TO THE AUTHORITIES.

POINT IV. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR AND INJUSTICE IN PERMITTING AMENDMENT AS TO PARTIES PLAINTIFF AT

THE TRIAL WITHOUT SWORN TESTIMONY, WHILE AT THE SAME TIME DENYING TO DEFENDANT THE RIGHT TO LITIGATE THE IMPORTANT ISSUE OF REAL PARTIES IN INTEREST, WHICH DEFENDANT HAD SPECIFICALLY RAISED AS AN ISSUE BY AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE IN ITS ANSWER.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE FINDING AND CONCLUSION OF LAW OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT DEFENDANT ABANDONED THE LEASE IS TOTALLY UNSUPPORTED BY, AND CONTRARY TO THE PREPONDERANCE OF, THE EVIDENCE, AND IS CONTRARY TO THE PRINCIPLES OF JUSTICE AND APPLICABLE PRECEDENTS.

Neither the evidence, nor justice, nor applicable precedent, support the view of the trial court that the defendant has abandoned the lease assignment or enterprise.

All the evidence and principles of justice and all the law is to the contrary.

The court, in its erroneous conclusions of law, stated:

“1. That the plaintiffs are entitled to the decree of this court that the defendant has abandoned the assignment of the lease of said School Section 16 and has abandoned the enterprise contemplated therein.”

This conclusion is based upon findings of fact, which will be demonstrated themselves to be either unsupported by the evidence, or irrelevant, to the effect that the defendant could abandon the con-

templated enterprise, and did so. (Findings of Fact 7 and 8.)

The trial court could not and did not arrive at its conclusion of abandonment by the support of substantial evidence in the case. That would not have been possible; for the evidence, properly understood, shows plainly that there was never any intent to abandon or any abandonment by the defendant of its rights. Rather, as will be demonstrated in this section of the brief, the evidence shows that the defendant fulfilled every obligation and pressed on with diligence to the fulfillment of its obligations, expending large sums of money in an earnest effort to make the entire undertaking worthwhile both to itself and plaintiff.

Abandonment of a property or enterprise, unlike forfeiture, is not a matter of breach or claimed breach of an obligation. Rather, it depends upon the volition and the action of the holder of the right, which must coincide to show clearly that the right has been relinquished and given up. We will show that neither of these essential prerequisites have, upon any theory, been here fulfilled.

Simply for a definition and discussion of the requisites of abandonment, we turn to the California case of *Los Angeles v. Abbott*, (1933) 129 Cal. App. 144, 18 Pac. 2d 785, where it is stated:

“Abandonment includes the intention to abandon, and the external act by which such intention is carried into effect.” (Page 787, Pacific Reporter citation.)

In the *Abbott* case the opinion of the reviewing court points out that the characteristic element of abandonment is voluntary relinquishment by intentional repudiation.

In *Berry v. Kelly* (1949) 90 Cal. App. (2d) 486, 203 Pac. (2d) 80, the reviewing court reversed a judgment of abandonment, holding that, despite delay in drilling a well, there was “no substantial evidence upon which the trial court could base a finding that defendant had abandoned . . .” (Page 81, Pacific Reporter citation.)

The evidence in the *Berry* case was that defendants had closed operations for several years. But the reviewing court said at page 81, citing several authorities:

“Abandonment cannot be inferred unless it can fairly be shown that nonuse by lessee is coupled with an intent to relinquish all rights in the premises.”

In the light of the above cases and definitions, let us turn to an examination of the present case and of the evidence relating to the question of abandonment. It will be clear this evidence does not support a finding of abandonment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS RE ABANDONMENT

The evidence shows by the testimony of plaintiff Best that the assignment of the lease was signed in June, 1953. (R. 9)

Plaintiff Best further testified that the Big Jim Corporation was to be formed.

The Big Jim Mining Company, a Nevada corporation, was duly formed, around the end of the summer of 1953. (R. 61.) It was formed for the specific purpose of dealing with the mining property whose lease was assigned by plaintiff Best (R. 61); this is the testimony of Mr. Jack Egar, president of the corporation, and whose testimony in th regard was apparently not challenged.

The corporation, formed for the very purpose of dealing with the lease here in question, set out at once, and continuingly, to achieve the purpose of pushing forward its project. Almost all testimony in this regard is virtually uncontradicted and unshaken.

The defendant had a mining survey made (R. 65). It hired a mining engineer in Grand Junction in August, 1953. (R. 65.) It received reports in June and October, 1953. It obtained an Atomic Energy Commission report (also unfavorable) around April, 1954. (R. 71.) It employed and paid

Frank Wicks to interpret and explain these reports (R. 68, 70, 71).

When Wicks interpreted the reports as unfavorable, the defendant's board of directors conferred on further action, and, Mr. Egar testified:

“It was decided that I should try to interest other people in the property.” (R. 70.)

Perservering, Mr. Egar in June, 1954, “took a trip to New York to see Mr. Schultz of Lehman Brothers who are investment brokers.” (R. 72.) In New York Mr. Egar discussed the property with Mr. Schultz but was turned down on the basis of the unfavorable reports. (R. 72.)

Mr. Egar made other efforts and contacted a firm in the mining business, Shattuck Denn Mining Corporation of New York. On June 8, 1954, Mr. Egar spoke to the president of this concern. (R. 74.)

Around July 1, 1954, in a long distance telephone conversation with the president of the Shattuck Denn concern, Mr. Egar was finally notified that Shattuck Denn did not desire to go forward with regard to the property. (R. 75.)

Defendant's efforts continued. Mr. Egar saw more people about the property; all had their geologists look at the property. (R. 75.) Among others approached were Mr. Blair W. Stewart of the Mudd

interests, mining and oil people in Los Angeles (R. 85). The defendant received a letter (Defendant's Exhibit 4) of October 4, 1954, which said in part:

“I am sorry to so have to advise you of our conclusion but wish to express our appreciation of your splendid cooperation and patience with us.”

Continuing still further, the defendant made contact and arranged a deal with Federal Uranium Corporation regarding the lease; stock of Federal Uranium was to be transferred to defendant. (R. 130.)

Other activity of the defendant corporation included payment of the necessary rental to the State of Utah for 1954 and 1955 as required by the lease.

In summary, then, we see that, despite the unfortunately unfavorable reports, the activity of the defendant corporation was single-minded and continuing. In what sense does this constitute abandonment?

The trial court, so far as factual basis for abandonment is concerned, apparently relied heavily, if not exclusively, upon a letter of Mr. Stern, an attorney for defendant. This letter, which is in evidence by stipulation (R. 8), is Exhibit K attached to plaintiff's Request for Admissions, filed March 26, 1955.

This letter of April 30, 1954, in response to insistent demands by plaintiff Best, states that, upon certain conditions, the directors of defendant would execute an assignment. These conditions appear to include the following:

1. That plaintiff Best's then attorney should prepare the assignment. (There is no showing this was ever done.)

2. That plaintiff Best should return to the defendant a sum of money paid by it to him. (There is no showing this was ever done.)

3. That plaintiff Best should repay to defendant two-thirds of the annual rent paid by the defendant. (There is no showing this was ever done.)

Thus, we have here at most a yielding to pressure, conditional upon the fulfillment of several prerequisites, of which none were ever complied with.

This can indicate neither abandonment nor the intent to abandon. The necessary conclusion of non-abandonment is still further reinforced by the circumstances under which the letter of April 30, 1954 was written.

It must be noted that the original assignment by plaintiff Best had been made, according to the allegations of plaintiff himself, only on July 17,

1953 (Complaint, Paragraph 3), less than ten months earlier.

Further, the acceptance of this assignment and agreement had been first made by defendant, according to the allegations of said plaintiff himself, only on November 12, 1953 (Complaint Paragraph 4), only about five months earlier.

Yet, despite the continuing activities of defendant, carried on in the face of the most discouraging reports, plaintiff Best, (Exhibit C to Interrogatories to Party Defendant, filed March 12, 1955) through his attorney, in a letter of April 26, 1954, placed upon defendant the heaviest pressure to reassign the lease. The letter states flatly that "demand is hereby made upon you to reassign said lease to H. E. Best."

The April 26, 1954 communication goes on to threaten, although politely:

"As time apparently is of the essence, this must be done as rapidly as possible. We therefore hope that you will be good enough to give us your prompt consideration and courtesy in this matter, rather than to necessitate a prolonged law suit and the damages which might flow therefrom . . ."

* * * *

Thus the evidence shows that even the highly conditional (and never carried out) offer to re-

assign of April 30, 1954, was a reluctant response to the direct and insistent pressure of the legal representative of Best himself. Surely then it cannot be deemed to constitute or afford any substantial evidence of abandonment.

Nor, of course, can the continuing and finally successful efforts of defendant to interest someone else in the property, above detailed, constitute evidence that defendant intended to or did abandon the deal. Rather, such efforts necessarily constitute clear and convincing evidence of the efforts of defendant to carry out its contract.

As is stated in the case of *Baldwin v. Jacobs*, (1918 182 Iowa 789, 166 N.W. 271, 272, an assignment or subletting is not an abandonment, but rather, an assertion of right to the lease. So defendant here sought to assert its right.

Where then is the evidence of abandonment? It is lacking. As common sense and the cases tells us, a tentative, partial and conditional offer to yield to pressure of lessor to surrender does not constitute an abandonment; it ill behooves plaintiff to take this inequitable position. See *Becker v. Rute* (1940) 228 Ia. 533, 293 N.W. 18, 21.

Even a letter saying that the lessee did not consider further development at the time justified, was not held abandonment. *Fischer v. Petroleum Co.*

(1943) 156 Kan. 367, 133 Pac. (2d) 95, 101, opinion adhered to on rehearing in 156 Kan. 722, 137 Pac. (2d) 139.

Nor does the fact that defendant, working to advance prospects, was not physically on the premises, operate as an abandonment, *Crane v. French*, (1940) 39 Cal. App. (2d) 642, 104 Pac. (2d) 53, 60. There must be clear proof of intent to abandon.

In summary, it is clear on the facts and the law that there is no substantial evidence supporting a finding of abandonment. Rather the evidence clearly shows that defendant, in the face of severe difficulties and discouragements, pushed onward continually in its effort to further and advance the property. This Honorable Court should, it is respectfully submitted, so hold.

POINT II. THE FINDING AND CONCLUSION OF LAW OF THE TRIAL COURT THAT DEFENDANT COMMITTED A FORFEITURE OF ITS RIGHTS UNDER THE ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT IS TOTALLY UNSUPPORTED BY, AND CONTRARY TO, THE EVIDENCE, AND IS CONTRARY TO PRINCIPLES OF JUSTICE AND APPLICABLE PRECEDENTS.

The trial court found, and found upon no substantial evidence, and contrary to the strong preponderance of the evidence, that the defendant failed to operate and develop the property with reasonable diligence. (Finding of Fact 12) sufficient to

meet its obligation under the contemplated enterprise. It then concluded that the lease had been abandoned.

The trial court erred grossly in several vital ways, which we shall show in this section of Appellant's Brief, and summarize briefly in this introductory portion of the section.

A. In the first place, the contract does not in any way contain provisions requiring instant mining of the property, whether or not such mining is economically feasible, and to imply such a provision is both totally illogical and contrary to precedent.

B. In the second place, the defendant in this case fulfilled and over-fulfilled its obligations under the contract. It established a \$20,000 corporation for the sole purpose of dealing with the property. It undertook many obligations, and earnestly carried them out, spending substantial sums and seeking development of the property in face of severe discouragements.

C. In the third place, even if somehow the contract could be misconstrued and tortured into terms that would somehow support a conclusion of breach of same terms by the defendant, such supposed breach could never, under law or principles of justice, be held sufficient to warrant anything more than granting of damages.

In further portions of this section, we will discuss greater detail the principles and propositions above set forth.

A. The Contract Does Not Provide For Immediate Mining Regardless of Feasibility, But Rather Provides Impliedly For Reasonable Efforts By Defendant.

The trial court found a breach of contract, despite the continuing efforts of the defendant in attempting, and finally succeeding, in finding persons to invest in and further the interests of the property.

But where are the provisions that were supposedly breached with regard to operation of the property? Let us examine some of the obligations undertaken — and performed.

A. The defendant promised to have a licensed surveyor survey the leasehold immediately.

Defendant, without contradiction or question fulfilled this obligation. (R. 65.)

B. The defendant promised to pay \$5,500 if either of two contingencies occurred. Neither of them happened. Admittedly, the mine on the next property did not adjoin the leasehold (R. 94.) and the Atomic Energy Commission drill report was unsatisfactory without *any* contrary evidence whatever.

C. Big Jim promised to reimburse Best for certain travel expenses, at the time the \$5,500 might be paid.

D. Defendant promised to “commence operations, weather permitting, as soon as possible.” What does this mean, and what can it mean, in the terms of the contract? It must mean, and it does mean, that the surveying operations and the securing of the Atomic Energy Commission report, must be undertaken promptly. There is nothing to the contrary in the record.

The trial court mistakenly took the view that the contract should and must, and therefore did, contain a provision requiring the mining of the property, and unconditionally, even without regard to whether the land could properly and profitably be mined.

The precedents, in Utah and elsewhere, contradict the trial court’s position. Thus, in *Monfort v. Lanyon Zinc Co.*, (1903) 67 Kan. 310, 72 Pac. 784, it was held that where the contract so provided, a contract was sufficiently complied with where rent was paid but mineral exploration was not carried on.

The correct view of law in such a situation is that any implied covenant creates no further obligation than the employment of reasonable and prudent diligence.

Thus, in *Brewster v. Lanyon Zinc Co.* (C.C.A. 8, 1905) 140 Fed. 801, 811-12, the court held that the large expense of exploration and development, and the fact that the lessee bears the loss of failure, require and entitle the lessee to protect his own interests and not to proceed beyond the point of profit.

Speaking of an asserted breach of an implied covenant to develop, the court's opinion in the *Brewster* case stated:

“ . . . no breach can occur save where the absence of such diligence is both certain and substantial in view of the actual circumstances at the time, as distinguished from mere expectations on the part of the lessor and conjecture on the part of mining enthusiasts. The large expense incident to the work of exploration and development, and the fact that the lessee must bear the loss if the operations are not successful, require that he proceed with due regard to his own interests, as well as those of the lessor. No obligation rests on him to carry the operations beyond the point where they will be profitable to him, even if some benefit to the lessor will result from them.”

This same principle, with an approving quotation from the *Brewster* case, was clearly enunciated in the later case of *Fischer v. Magnolia Petroleum Co.* (1943) 156 Kan. 367, 133 Pac. (2d) 95, 101, opinion adhered to on rehearing in 156 Kan. 722, 137 Pac. (2d) 139. See also *Sauder v. Mid-Conti-*

nent Petroleum Corp. 292 U. S. 272, 54 S. Ct. 671 78 L.Ed. 1255, 93 A.L.R. 454, and cases collected at 2 Summers on Oil & Gas, Perm. Ed. § 414, p. 368, footnote 29.

In the present case the trial court has erroneously placed upon defendant's shoulders the burden of providing that it had in nowise breached any implied covenant. This, it is submitted, defendant did clearly show, while plaintiff brought forward no evidence tending to prove any breach of an implied covenant to develop under the circumstances.

Actually, the burden to disprove a breach of such a covenant should not even have been placed on defendant. As is clearly set forth in *Fischer v. Magnolia Petroleum Co.*, supra:

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