1956

Harold E. Best and Earl Craig v. Big Jim Mining Co. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

As stated in *Conrad v. Morehead*, (1883) 89 N.C. 31, as follows:

“It would be unjust and unreasonable, and contravene the nature and spirit of the lease, to allow the lessee to continue to hold his term a considerable length of time, without making any effort at all to mine for gold or other metals.”

In addition to the necessary conclusion that reason and justice support the remedy of forfeiture, II American Law of Property 680 recognizes that when there has been no production upon the claims then there is no measure of damages

and the remedy at law is inadequate, and the only conceivable remedy is termination of the interest.

Again, appellant makes a glaring attempt to torture general rules taken from unrelated fields of the law to substantiate its contentions.

The defendant did nothing which could be conceived as reasonably calculated to operate and develop the properties. The duties imposed by the contract and implied by the law have resulted in the necessary and equitable forfeiture of the lease and the action of the Trial Court in this regard should not be disturbed.

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE AND AUTHORITIES SUPPORT A FINDING OF LACK OF MUTUALITY IN THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN PLAINTIFFS AND DEFENDANT.

It is admitted that the trial court did not explicitly find or conclude that the agreement was unenforceable for reason of lack of mutuality. For that reason defendant's argument on this point is surplusage. It is obvious that either abandonment or forfeiture sustains the decision of the trial court. If a finding of mutuality be deemed implicit and necessary to support the Trial Court's judgment, such a finding is supported by the evidence. The agreement provides as follows:

"The assignee at all times has the right to abandon said mine and retain all the equipment thereon except as forbidden by the said laws of Utah. In the event

of the abandonment of said mine, assignee must re-assign said lease to assignor.”

It is also well to note in relation to this clause that the defendant drew the agreement (R. 10, R. 121).

Petroleum Co. v. Coal, Coke and Manufacturing Co., 89 Tenn. 381, 18 S.W. 65, indicates certain factors which would support lack of mutuality in an option case. The lessee had option to develop, and mine, and any penalty provision was lacking. From these factors the court concluded a lack of mutuality existed. See also *Taylor v. Kingman Feldspar Company*, supra.

Defendant through Herman Stern testified as follows in answer to the obligation of mining:

“We have the obligation to mine if it proves profitable . . . ”

In other words, defendant, under its own theory of the case, has the exclusive option of decision under the agreement. It is bound to do nothing insofar as mining the property is concerned. Such an agreement as conceived and drafted by the defendant is lacking in equitable treatment of the plaintiff and in its own necessary legal sufficiency. The plaintiffs were rightfully restored to their mining lease by the Trial Court.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED IN COMPLETE HARMONY WITH THE CUSTOM OF COURTS AND THE LAW AND PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION

CONCERNING THE QUESTION OF REAL PARTY IN INTEREST.

A. Defendant did not raise the issue of real party in interest by affirmative defense and defendant was in no way prejudiced by the action of the lower court.

The introductory paragraph to Point IV of appellant's brief is indeed "startling" as appellant contends, but startling only because of a completely erroneous statement of the law and what transpired at the trial.

Defendant initially contends that its answer raised the issue of plaintiff Harold Best's standing as a real party in interest. Such is not the case. Defendant in paragraph 8 of its answer alleged no more substance than the plaintiff Harold Best had assigned his interest to another person or persons. This in no way tenders an issue for trial.

In the Utah case of *Hiramatsu v. Maryland Insurance Co.*, 73 Utah 303, 309, 273 Pac. 963, plaintiff commenced an action under a policy against his insurance company for damages to his car. The car was purchased by plaintiff from the Service Motor Company under a title retaining contract which was assigned to the Thatcher Brothers Banking Company, and defendant alleged in its answer that plaintiff was not the only real party in interest, but that these two concerns were also real parties.

After judgment in favor of plaintiff and on appeal defendant contended that Thatcher Brothers Bankers and the Service Motor Company were "real parties in interest and not bound by the judgment." This Court affirmed the judgment

for plaintiff and stated at page 965 that it did not appear on the face of the complaint that any one other than plaintiff was a real or necessary party and that defendant attempted to raise the issue by its answer. The Court said:

“It is merely alleged that they ‘are real parties in interest,’ but nothing is, nor are there any facts, alleged to show wherein or in what particular either of them was a real party in interest when the action was commenced. *That was essential if the defendant desired to enter an issue in such respect.*” (Italics added)

The Court concluded that the question of real party in interest “presents no ruling for review, and thus shows no error or prejudice in the premises.”

A similar case is found in *Arthur S. Hoyt Co., Inc., v. Gallagher’s Warehouse, Inc.*, 19 F.R. Serv. 17a. 42, Case I (D.C.E.D. Pa., 1953) wherein the court stated that the second separate defense attempts to raise the question that the plaintiff is not the real party in interest, but the statement of it “amounts to nothing more than a conclusion of law without supporting facts.”

In the case of *Tinker v. Northwest Air Lines, Inc.*, 16 F.R. Serv. 17a. 13 ,Case 1, 11 F.R.D. 540 (U.S.D.C., N.D. 1951), the court considered defendant’s argument concerning an assignment, the “sole effect” being “to constitute a different person the owner of the claim against the defendant.” Defendant’s motion for a rehearing was denied and the court quoted from *Ronsenblum v. Dingfelder*, 111 F. 2d 406, 407, as follows:

“Since the claim is owned and may be sued on by someone, all a defendant may properly ask is such a

party plaintiff as will render the judgment final and res judicata of the right sued upon.”

Similarly, in the Utah case of *Shaw v. Jeppson*, 239 P. 2d 745, plaintiff obtained an injunction against the defendant from teaching dancing in competition with the plaintiff. On appeal defendant raised the question that plaintiff was not the real party in interest; that rather an undomesticated foreign corporation was the real party. This Court held that the plaintiff exacted the restrictive covenant “for the purpose of protecting her own interests. She is entitled to enforce it on her own behalf.” This Court held further that even if some other person “may incidentally derive an indirect benefit from plaintiff’s enforcement of her own rights,” this would not preclude plaintiff from enforcement. Justice Crockett, speaking for the court, announced:

“The reason the defendant has the right to have a cause of action prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest is so that the judgment will preclude any action on the same demand by another and permit the defendant to assert all defenses or counterclaims available against the real owners of the cause.”

Justice Crockett concludes with a statement which applies with equal force to the present action, as follows:

“Defendant will suffer no difficulty in this case on that score.”

And so we pose the question: Wherein lies the prejudice against this defendant? The claim was prosecuted by the contracting parties of record and the judgment is final and res judicata as to all rights involved. Even if we assume, which we expressly deny, that plaintiff Harold Best throughout all

the contractual negotiations was acting as an agent for an undisclosed principal, Best would be liable under the contract, hold the power to sue in his own name, the principal would be fully bound by the action of his agent, and the ultimate disclosure of a heretofore unknown principal could not affect the status of the defendant. 3 C.J.S. Agency, Sections 216 and 244; *Montague Manufacturing Co. v. Aycock-Holly Lumber Co.*, 139 Va. 742, 124 S.E. 208.

Let us assume further, which again is denied, that plaintiff Harold Best assigned his interest under the contract with defendant to some unknown third person. Could this affect the rights of the defendant? Certainly an assignment will not be effective and could not prejudice the rights of a contracting party until such assignment is made known. *In re Leterman, Becher & Co.*, 260 Fed. 543, 171 C.C.A. 327. It is stated in 6 C.J.S., Assignments, Sec. 74, as follows:

“The notice, however, must be sufficiently direct and definite to enable the debtor to know of the assignment; it should name or identify the assignee; it must be sufficiently definite to enable the debtor to identify the subject matter thereof; and it will not be effective until actually communicated to the debtor.”

Actually, if plaintiffs could not sue in this case as contracting parties and record title holders, it is difficult to imagine anyone who could bring the action against defendant. *M. H. Walker Realty Co. v. American Surety Co.*, 60 Utah 435, 211 Pac. 998.

This Court in *Child v. Gillis Construction Co.*, 42 Utah 120, 129 Pac. 356, involving the question raised by defendant on appeal of plaintiffs' capacity as a real party in interest,

appropriately summarized the doctrine involved by a statement now of substantial importance to plaintiff in this case, as follows:

“ . . . there is absolutely nothing shown how the fact whether Mr. Child (Plaintiff in the action) was principal or agent could in any way affect appellant's legal rights, and hence the error, if in fact the court committed such by not submitting the question of agency to the jury as requested by appellant, is wholly harmless. *To reverse a case for such a reason under such circumstances would amount almost to a travesty.*”
(Italics added)

B. Defendant is bound by the pre-trial order which did not raise the defense of real party in interest. On file with this Honorable Court is a complete transcript of the Pre-Trial Hearing held on the 28th day of March, 1955, wherein various aspects of the discovery pleadings are settled (Pre-Trial Tr. 2-31), counsel for both sides make a statement to the court as to their respective contentions, (Pre-Trial Tr. 32-40) the facts established by discovery techniques are reviewed, and the Court ultimately entered a Pre-Trial Order based on the rather lengthy arguments and discussion. The Pre-Trial Order and the stipulation of counsel with respect thereto (Pre-Trial Tr. 40-45) is as follows:

MR. HOLBROOK: “We will be willing to submit it on that basis, Your Honor. We have nothing further to present to the court at this time.”

THE COURT: “Is that all right with you then the way I have set it out?”

MR. ARNOVITZ: “I think the issues substantially. I've had some doubt as to whether the issue of forfeiture is in the complaint but I assume that Your Honor now states that it becomes a part of the issues?”

THE COURT: "Well, of course when I say has there been a forfeiture, has there been a breach of such a nature that the defendant has lost any right to further assert anything, it's assignment. That is the issue. And, of course, that involves the question of law whether under this contract he is entitled to a reassignment in the event of a breach. I can make it a little bit more specific. I will restate the issues. Is there such a lack of mutuality in the contract, Plaintiff's Exhibit B, that the plaintiff is entitled to a reassignment of the lease to the school section described in the complaint?

"Has there been an abandonment of the contract, Plaintiff's Exhibit B, on the part of the defendant?

"Has the defendant breached the contract, Plaintiff's Exhibit B, and if there has been such a breach is the plaintiff entitled to have the school section reassigned?

"Is the plaintiff entitled to damages, and if so, in what amount?"

MR. ARNOVITZ: "I would also like to have stated, if Your Honor please, an issue as counsel has referred to it in his affidavit, an issue as to whether there has been a waiver of either the breach or the abandonment."

THE COURT: "All right. Has there been a waiver of the abandonment if any has occurred and a waiver of the breach if any has occurred? We will put it that way then. And I will try and set the case of trial in May. I won't set it for trial before the 15th of May, is that agreeable." (Pre-trial Tr. 44-45).

A binding thread necessary to sustain the dignity of the courts and the rights of litigants is the well-recognized rule stated in *King v. Edward Hines Lumber Co.*, (D. Ore. 1945) 68 F. Supp. 1019, 1021, 8 F.R. Serv. 16.32, Case 3, as follows:

"An admission by counsel in open court made part

of the judicial record and used as a foundation for judgment, is the most solemn and binding act. * * * If courts cannot rely on admissions of counsel made in pre-trial conferences, then that procedure has no validity.”

The Federal Courts in interpreting Rule 16 of the Federal Rules of Procedure, which is identical to the Utah Rule, have frequently held that limitation of issues at a pre-trial conference bars consideration of other questions on appeal. *Frank v. Giesy*, 4 F.R. Serv. 16.32, Case 1, 117 F.2d, 122 (C.C.A. 9th, 1941).

Nowhere in the pre-trial conference held in the present case is there any mention of the defense concerning real party in interest and as indicated in foregoing arguments this question was not raised by an appropriate pleading. In the case of *McLouth Steel Corp. v. Mesta Machine Co.*, 19 F. R. Serv. 17a.44 Case I (D.C.E.D. Pa. 1953), the defendant raised the issue that the insurance company and not the defendant was the real party in interest. The court held that the right to have the real party in interest on record as a plaintiff was a right which was waived by the defendant. The court said:

“In the present case, after two years of procedural maneuvering, the defendants presented their motion four days before the day on which the case was set for trial, where all parties had prepared and witnesses had been brought from considerable distances. It is hard to see how a motion could be less timely.”

Certainly all the factors of preparation, travel, and loss of time apply equally to this case. Moreover, the question of real party in interest was not raised until the trial was in progress, and then after an expressed waiver by failure to plead

and include the issue in the pre-trial conference. Either a waiver occurred or it was a tactical maneuver designed to prevent preparation and defense to a question which would have no bearing on the case in any event. To reverse such a case on these technical grounds would surely be a travesty on justice.

Appellant in its attempt to establish some technical reason for reversal alleges the failure of the Trial Court to enter a formal pre-trial order. If it should be concluded that a formal order executed by the court is a mandatory requirement, as we have pointed out previously, such a failure in no way prejudiced the defendant. However, the practice of the Federal and Utah courts under Rule 16 is not invariably to complete a formal document designated as an order. This practice is illustrated in *Shafroth, Pre-Trial Techniques of Federal Judges*, 1944, 4 F.R.D. 183, 192, where it is stated, as follows:

“A very usual practice is for the pre-trial judge to dictate an order at the close of the conference in the presence of counsel with the privilege on their part to object to any part of it which does not accord with their understanding. * * * In still other jurisdictions the transcript of agreements reached and of the issues in their streamlined form as developed at the conference is itself considered as a pre-trial order which guides the course of the trial.”

The Lower Court in this case followed this recognized practice in every respect. After the issues were settled by stipulation of counsel in the pre-trial conference, the Lower Court in the presence of counsel, affording them every opportunity to amend and object, dictated the pre-trial order to the reporter. Surely such a procedure is in complete harmony with the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and with the fundamental

basis of interpretation therein set out in Rule 1, that the Rules "shall be liberally construed to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action."

C. The trial court allowed defendant every opportunity to present evidence concerning the real party in interest.

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